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The History of Hebron Evangelical Church1 
 

 
 

The Beginning 
 
Caersalem Chapel, the only Welsh Baptist Church in Dowlais, was 
bursting at the seams by the 1840s, as the population of Merthyr Tydfil 
swelled thanks to the availability of employment in the booming 
industries. Dowlais Ironworks was at the time the largest in the world, 
and one of four in the town, contributing to Merthyr then being the 
largest town in Wales. 
 

 
1 Based largely on an address delivered by Rev Sulwyn Jones in 1996 to mark the 
150th anniversary of Hebron. 
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W.R. Davies – the minister of Caersalem since 1838 – had the idea of 
establishing branch chapels around the borough. Land was obtained 
from the Dowlais Iron Works, owned by Sir Josiah John Guest and 
between 1841-2 Hebron was built at Dowlais Top at a cost of £1300. 
Caersalem paid £500 of this and released 106 members to Hebron. The 
opening services were held on 23rd and 24th July 1843. Caersalem 
remained responsible for Hebron until May 1846 when Hebron 
became independent. On the 23rd and 24th May 1846, four services 
were held during the inaugural meetings, with two preachers at each 
service.3 On the previous Easter Monday of that year, two thousand 
people sat at a ‘Tea Party’ held to defray the expenses and debts of the 
new building. £120 was raised. 
 

 
2 Caersalem, Well Street, Dowlais, built 1821, rebuilt 1833 (then again in Pant, 1977). 
3 See Noel Gibbard R.B.Jones Gospel Ministry in Turbulent Times (Bryntirion Press, 
2009) p11 and J. Ronald Williams and Gwyneth Williams, History of Caersalem 
Dowlais (Gomerian Press, 1967) p136. 
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The first minister of Hebron was the Rev. William Williams from 
Llanfynach near Brecon. 
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The first forty years 
 
An outbreak of cholera in 1849 spread quickly due to large numbers of 
people continuing to move into the area and living in unsanitary 
conditions. Death occurred quickly and on a large scale, leading many 
to seek refuge in the churches in what is known as the Cholera Revival. 
By September, the minister at Hebron (now John Jones) had baptised 
179 people.  
 

5 
 
Over 400 people were baptised in the three Welsh Baptist Chapels of 
Dowlais that year. Caersalem’s W.R. Davies died of cholera in 1849 
having baptised 150 people over the previous two Sundays. 

 
4 Seren Orllewinol (Western Star) 1849 
5 Primitive Church Magazine 1850 
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Hebron’s minister during this time, John Jones, stayed for only one 
year. Originally a stonemason from Liverpool, he was dismissed for 
drunkenness. Like the well-known and recently deceased Baptist 
minister Christmas Evans (1766-1838) he had only one eye. 
 
John Jones was followed by Hugh Cefni Parry6, who answered the call 
to Hebron at the end of April 1851. He was from Llangefni, Anglesey 
and due to his short stature was known as ‘Parry Bach.’ His diary 
records his ten-day journey from Rhosybol (Anglesey) to Dowlais as 
follows: 

 
6 The Dictionary of Welsh Biography (https://biography.wales/article/s-PARR-HUG-
1826) provides the following information on Hugh Cefni Parry: 
Name: Hugh Parry 
Pseudonym: Cefni 
Date of birth: 1826 
Date of death: 1895 
Spouse: Mary Ann Parry (née Harding) 
Parent: Ellinor Parry 
Parent: Owen Parry 
Gender: Male 
Occupation: Baptist minister, poet, littérateur, and theologian 
Area of activity: Literature and Writing; Poetry; Religion 
Born 20 September 1826, in the parish of Cerrig-ceinwen, Anglesey, son of Owen and 
Ellinor Parry, Tyddyn Sawdwr, Llangefni. He was originally a member of the 
Congregational churches at Llangefni and Rhos-y-meirch, and was ordained minister 
at Bagillt 26 December 1848, but seceded to the Baptists at Llangefni 6 October 1850 
and held pastorates at Rhos-y-bol (January-May 1851) Dowlais (May 1851-5), Bangor 
(1855-7), Brymbo and Moss (1857-60), Tal-y-bont, Cardiganshire (1860-4), London 
(Tottenham Court Road) (1864-7), and Cardiff (1867-70). He emigrated to America in 
1870 and spent the greater part of his time there in the pastorate of Dodgeville 
(Wisconsin) (1885-95), but he returned several times to Wales and was pastor at 
Holywell in 1884-5. He died at Llangefni, 18 May 1895, and was buried at Rhos-y-
meirch. He married (in 1847 or during his pastorate at Rhos-y-bol) Mary Ann Harding 
of Caernarvon. He was successful in the pryddest competition at the national 
eisteddfod at Swansea, 1863, and published articles and poetry of a high standard in 
the Welsh and American periodical press. 
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May 7th: Entered on board of the vessel for Liverpool. 
May 8th: Cross winds. The ship anchored. 
May 9th. Winds broken last night: got anchored at Llandudno Bay. 
May 10th: Arrived at Liverpool. Boarded the Trambadour. 
May 11th: On the sea. Very sick. 
May 12th: Arrived at Bristol. Taking a boat for Cardiff arrived there. 
May 13th: Staying at Cardiff and preaching there, the night. 
May 14th: Train for Merthyr: reaching Dowlais.  

 
He was remembered for his shouting! Indeed, his shouting for some 
was the reason cracks began to appear in the building within ten years 
of its construction. Others blamed the damage on the frequent 
baptisms and the weight of spectators in the galleries, although it 
should of course be attributed to the mine workings in the area that 
undermined the building’s foundations. The original building was soon 
demolished and by 1856 a new building had been constructed using 
stone and wood from the original. The new building came at a cost of 
£750. It followed the same design as the original but with the addition 
of a vestibule area. 
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In 1854, the Rev. Thomas Roberts became minister. He too was from 
North Wales and had married the daughter of W.R. Davies, Caersalem. 
He was clearly an able man having acted as the architect for the new 
building. His salary was small at just £5 a month and so he opened a 
shop to supplement his income. When his wage was later cut to just £3 
a month, he opened a second shop in Dol-y-gaer. 
 

 
7 Seren Cymru 27th December 1856 reporting on the re-opening of Hebron. It notes 
that although the weather was adverse, services took place on the Sunday and 
Monday (December 7th & 8th) to a crowded chapel of attentive listeners. The sermons 
were intense and influential and it was hoped that good effects would follow. Over 
£70 was collected. 
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8 Cardiff and Merthyr Guardian 20th January 1872 regarding the death of Rev Thomas 
Roberts 
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In 1859, John Jones, a Dowlais native, was converted at Hebron. He 
was appointed a deacon in 1877 and later became secretary of the 
church in 1884. In 1869, his son Rhys Bevan – more commonly known 
as R.B. Jones – was born, the family home being 64 Caeharris. R.B. 
Jones would later become a leading figure in the 1904 revival and in 
Welsh evangelicalism. 
 
  

9 
 
Thomas Roberts was followed by the Rev Owen ‘Waldo’ James10 in 
1865. He arrived at Hebron aged just twenty, fresh from the Baptist 

 
9 R.B. Jones 
10 The Dictionary of Welsh Biography provides the following information on Owen 
Waldo James: 
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Collage at Llangollen (having been one of the first six students to ever 
attend). During his time at Hebron, the pulpit was enlarged to become 
a platform. ‘Waldo’ was in all likelihood the pseudonym he used for 
competing at the various eisteddfodau.  
 
Next came the Rev Thomas Trevionydd Davies in 1874. Originally from 
Pembrokeshire, he came to Hebron as a student from the Baptist 
College at Pontypool. He became Hebron’s second minister to be 
dismissed for drunkenness leaving after three and a half years. 
Drunkenness seems have been a feature of these times, amongst both 
ministers and members. Noel Gibbard writes: 
 

 
Name: Owen Waldo James 
Date of birth: 1845 
Date of death: 1910 
Parent: Margaret James 
Parent: John James 
Gender: Male 
Occupation: Baptist minister 
Area of activity: Religion 
Born at Llanfachraeth, Anglesey, son of John and Margaret James, and brother 
of Edward James, Nevin. His family were Congregationalists, but he himself joined 
the Baptists at Pontyrarw during the ministry of John Jones (Mathetes, 1821 - 1878), 
and he was one of the first six students to enter Llangollen Baptist College. He was 
ordained at Hebron, Dowlais, 1865, and moved to the Tabernacle, Merthyr, 1872, 
Ebenezer, Aberavon, 1878, Edwardsdale, Pa., U.S.A., 1887, Rhosllannerchrugog, 
1890, and Blaenclydach, 1893. He was appointed secretary and superintendent of 
the Welsh Baptist Home Missionary Society in 1900, but the Society did not prosper 
and he resigned. He ministered for a short while to the churches at Barry and Godre-
aman and in 1905 accepted the pastorate of Bethania, Porth, but his health broke 
down and he moved to Pen-coed, near Bridgend, where he died 18 July 1910. He was 
a frequent competitor at eisteddfodau, and his name ' Waldo ' is said to have 
originated as a pseudonym. He was responsible for a South Wales edition of Yr 
Herald Gymraeg, and published Adnodau Dyrys y Testament Newydd, 1887; Blinder 
Diweddaraf yr Eglwysi … Anerchiad …, 1883; and Esboniad y Bobl: Yr Efengylyn ol 
Marc, 1895. 
 
 

https://biography.wales/article/s-JAME-EDW-1839
https://biography.wales/article/s-JONE-JOH-1821
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In the streets around Caeharris Station lived many Irishmen, a number 
of whom were lodgers. They were regular visitors to The Red Bull, a 
public house immediately across the road from Hebron. The chapel and 
the public house challenged each other for supremacy in Caeharris, 
doing so with increasing intensity as the Temperance Movement 
flourished. The Red Bull received support even from some chapel 
members. There is a story of one member emerging from the Red Bull 
just as the minister was coming out of Hebron. The latter rebuked his 
wandering sheep. ‘Drunk again, Davy’, he said, and received the reply, 
‘And me too. Lovely isn’t it?’11 

 
The next minister was the Rev Griffith Williams, arriving at Hebron in 
1879. He was remembered for giving very vivid lectures. Shortly before 
his departure he gave a lecture on mining methods where he caused a 
small explosion in order to demonstrate the powder used by miners 
underground. 
 
It was also in 1879 that the vestry (school room) was added at a cost of 
£260. 
 

 
 

 
11 Gibbard p12-13 



 

 11 

Times of blessing 
 
The first forty years at Hebron were not very auspicious by the 
standards of the time. This was the heyday of Welsh nonconformity 
and Wales was still very much enjoying the aftermath of the great 
eighteenth century revival or “Great Awakening.” Revivals had 
continued from the middle of the eighteenth century right up to this 
time and it is said that during this period every seven years, either 
locally or nationally, there was a great spiritual harvest. Churches were 
literally bursting at the seams and therefore Hebron’s membership of 
about 200 was low for the time.  
 
Things changed with the arrival of Rev. W. Ceinfryn Thomas in 1890. 
Remarkably, he was born in a cottage just three or four hundred yards 
away from the birthplace of a later minister of Hebron, Rev. Sulwyn 
Jones, who was born on a farm in remote rural Carmarthenshire. Both 
men would have attended the same Baptist chapel at Penrhiw-goch. 
Ceinfryn Thomas had been apprenticed as a tailor to his uncle from the 
age of 9, but later attended Llangollen Baptist College before accepting 
a call to Abercwmboi near Aberdare. He was at Abercwmboi for ten 
years before accepting the call to Hebron in 1890.  
 
By March of 1891, 33 people had been baptised, mainly of the older 
age group. 60 more were added before the end of the year. He 
organised classes for the converts in homes in order to instruct and 
care for them. This care, especially for the young, seems to have been 
the enduring legacy of his ministry. A Saturday evening Bible class for 
the young people was a constant feature of his years at Hebron. R.B. 
Jones had already become a student at the Baptist College in 
Pontypool by the time Ceinfryn Thomas arrived at Hebron, but Noel 
Gibbard notes the impression the new minister had upon the young 
man: 
 

Ceinfryn Thomas impressed him by his personal example and also by 
his insistence that preaching was the central work of the Christian 
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ministry. The minister of Hebron was an influence not only upon his 
own church but upon the whole district.12 

 
By the end of the century, Hebron’s membership had increased to 324. 
Hebron was now a full-house every Sunday, morning and evening. 
Capacity at the time was about 800. Families would have paid seat-
money for their pews, a practice that continued well into the twentieth 
century and remembered by some current members. At the beginning 
of the century, the congregation had 270 scholars and 35 teachers. 
 
The original debt for the church’s construction had still not been paid 
off and was at this time about £600. There was a real burden to be 
clear of this, by now, 60-year-old debt. It was referred to as the ‘Corff 
Marwolaeth” (the “Body of Death”). Musical performances were often 
arranged to raise money for the purpose of clearing the debt. Indeed, 
eisteddfodau, cantatas and gymanfa ganu were a feature of church life 
at this time. Once a quarter, services would be led by the Sunday 
School, and featured various items, including solos and recitations. In 
June 1902, the debt was finally cleared and Jubilee Meetings were held 
to celebrate.  
 

 
12 Gibbard p16 
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1904-5 Revival 
 
The roots of the revival blessing at Hebron perhaps stem from a 
meeting in 1899 where a member got up at a church meeting and 
publicly expressed dissatisfaction at the church’s spiritual state. Mr 
Thomas picked up on this concern with the church on the following 
Sunday. Concerns were expressed by R.B. Jones when he visited to 
preach in January 1900. His theme was “Needed”, where what was 
needed was another Elijah or Luther. Prayer meetings at the time 
longed for the Holy Spirit to come in a fresh way upon the church. 
 
In July 1904, the Glamorgan Baptist Association was to be held at 
Hebron. The prayer meetings leading up to this called for a special 
outpouring of the Spirit on the forthcoming meetings and there was 

 
13 Seren Cymru 25th July 1902 reporting the general joy felt by all at having reached 
the long-awaited goal. Note that both R.B.Jones and his father, then secretary at 
Hebron, spoke. 
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great anticipation. When the Association arrived, Charles Davies of 
Tabernacle Cardiff prophesied that there would be a far greater 
association before long. The church was longing for more than they 
had and for God to move in the life of the community. In August, there 
was a week of prayer meetings, looking forward to the annual 
preaching festival of the church in September. Again, during these 
meetings there was a burden for a general awakening and for the 
salvation of the lost. It was at this time that many backsliders were 
restored and many were converted. Revival had begun! Before long, 
Mr. Thomas felt the need to call for assistance, such was the extent of 
the work, calling upon W.S. Jones, R.B. Jones and Owen Owen of 
Carmarthen. 
 
Many accounts survive from this time. There is the occasion of when 
the young people met at the chapel one Saturday in October at 6pm. 
They were still there at 1am! There is the account of the man who, just 
across the street from Hebron, was enjoying a pint in The Antelope. He 
felt compelled to leave and crossed the street into Hebron half drunk. 
As he entered, he could hear his daughter praying for him and was 
converted that night. Below are some extracts of the unpublished 
personal memories of Price Davies of 1904 in Dowlais: 
 

T. E. Lewis and I were brought up together on Dowlais Top, and only a 
few years ago, (not long before he died) while we were standing 
outside Woolworths Stores in High Street, Merthyr, he related to me 
how and where he was saved. 
 
Every Saturday night he and his friends spent their time drinking in 
different pubs until eleven-o-clock Stop Tap; after this they used to 
take drinks with them to one or another of his friend’s homes, and 
drinking until the early hours of Sunday morning. He told me he never 
went home until about two-o-clock in the morning. He was going home 
drunk one Sunday morning alone along Gwernllwyn Road, with a 
railway along one side of it. This was a lonely road. He told me he was 
brought down under an awful conviction by God of his sinfulness and 
guilt; and there alone on the solitary pavement he cried to God for 
mercy and forgiveness for some time. T. E. Lewis was saved there and 
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went home a changed and sober young man and became a faithful 
member of Hebron Baptist Chapel for more than fifty years. He said 
that the Lord Jesus Christ took that appetite and thirst for drink out of 
him that night for ever, for it never returned. Praise the Lord. T. E. 
Lewis was well known as a Coster in Twynrodyn and Merthyr. 
 
Sam Brown, another friend of mine, was converted down in the 
Colliery – Number two Pit Bedlinog – there alone between two 
ventilator doors. Praise God! 
 
I had an adopted brother, married and living in Dowlais Top, his 
hobbies were drinking, gambling and fighting. Many of those he knew, 
who had lived the same kind of life, were at this time converted and he 
used to go with them to the meetings in Hebron; but he came out time 
after time saying “They are not going to have me.” But the more he 
was coming and going out defiantly, the more an even greater volume 
of prayer would rise from the congregation to the Throne of God in 
Heaven that the Lord would have mercy on him and bring him to his 
feet. Not long afterwards some of the members of Hebron were 
coming home at midnight one Saturday night after attending a Revival 
meeting at Pantywain, a village on the mountains above Dowlais Top. 
Before they came to the houses in Dowlais Top they could hear 
somebody moaning and groaning on the side of the road, and Glory to 
God it was him; brought down under awful conviction and crying to 
God for mercy. 
 
Two of the men picked him up, one under each arm, and took him 
down past his house to the meeting in Hebron where the meetings 
were going on all night. There, that night, or rather Sunday morning, D. 
R. Williams, commonly called “Dai Ruth” was converted. Oh, what a 
change! He became a member of Hebron Baptist Chapel.14 

 
At the end of January 1905, Evan Roberts visited Hebron. The church 
was packed, with perhaps over a thousand in attendance. This 
crowding, along with the gas jets made the place intolerable and 
people were beginning to faint. There was a call for the windows to be 
broken. The Western Mail reporter ‘Awstin’ was in attendance and 

 
14 Extracts from the Testimony of Price Davies, 1881-1966 (with thanks to his 
grandson, Roy Davies, St Luke’s Campus Librarian, University of Exeter) 
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apparently encouraged the breaking of the windows, assuring that The 
Western Mail would cover the costs.  
 

15 
 

   
 

15 Extract from The Cardiff Times 28th January 1905 (page 8) 
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As well as the meetings, there was concern to visit the sick and those 
who had been unable to attend. By 1905, the membership had risen to 
about 600 with as many Sunday School scholars and 43 teachers.  
 
Strangely, by 1908 the membership was down to 400 and concern was 
being expressed that there was a spiritual apathy in church life, 
although the church remained a hive of activity. An amusing note in 
the church records at this time is the concern expressed at a church 
meeting in 1908 about the recent change that had taken place to the 
miners’ day, which had been reduced to eight hours. Concern was 
expressed as to what men would do with all the extra time on their 
hands!  
 

 
16 Evening Express 25th January 1905 (page 4) 
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Church discipline was an important factor during these years. In the 
previous century, the main reason for discipline had been 
drunkenness. Now, other issues enter the records. There are instances 
of gambling, stubbornness, Sabbath breaking, absenteeism from 
services and a specific instance of women members quarrelling in 
public. These matters were taken seriously and discipline was 
exercised. Every year saw a number of ex-communications after due 
warning and visits had been paid. To be absent from the church’s 
communion for three months without cause was a matter for censure 
and then, after a further three months, names were removed from the 
church roll. It should also be noted that there are records of members 
being reinstated into the fellowship of the church too. 
 
Although a number of men from Hebron were called up to fight in 
WWI, only one lost his life. Immediately after 1918, there was a 
clamour in the church for a pipe organ. Such an instrument was 
deemed necessary in order for Hebron to equal Bethania as a gymanfa 
ganu facility. A pipe organ required an organ chamber, which was 

 
17 Sunday School picture from the 1890s. 
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constructed in 1920. However, it would be another 50 years until a 
pipe organ was installed.  
 

 
 
Ceinfryn Thomas was a revered figure at Hebron and in the community 
for forty years. Boys were named after him and parents even brought 
their children to him to be named! A Mrs. Robbins, present at the 1996 
150th anniversary service, had named her son Ceinfryn! An able man, 
he sat on the governing body of the University of Wales. His kindness 
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to the poor was proverbial and during the lean years of the general 
strike of the 1920s, he refused on more than one occasion to take his 
salary. Whilst many ministers at the beginning of the twentieth century 
were abandoning the gospel, he remained faithful to the end.  
 
If any criticism might be made of him, it was his “pulpit Welsh.” In 
those days, the Welsh heard from the pulpit would be very different 
from the Welsh spoken in the home. It was a specialised form of 
language that ordinary people wouldn’t be expected to understand 
and a view in the chapels at the time was that if you couldn’t 
understand a preacher then the sermon must have been good. Some 
members from this time commented in later years that they had never 
understood a word he’d preached!  
 
Mr Thomas died in October 1929 after a short illness. Under his 
ministry, the church had grown to be one of the most respected in the 
Baptist denomination.  
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1930-1964 
 
By 1930, there were still capacity crowds at Hebron, although 
nonconformity in Wales was waning. In May 1932, Rev. J.J. Lewis from 
Llanpumsaint, having studied at the Baptist college in Cardiff, was 
ordained and inducted with R.B. Jones delivering the charge. 
 

 
 
His mother charged the deacons that day, “Look after my little boy.”  
 

18 

 
18 Rev J J Lewis and Hebron Diaconate circa 1930s. Back row (L-R): William John 

Lewis, David Howells, Stephen Kinsey, Thomas David Morgan, John Davies, David 
William Davies, John Daniel Lewis 
Front row (L-R): John Hughes, Mordecai Williams, Evan Elias, Rev. J.J. Lewis, John 
Williams, John Morgan, James Davies 
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In 1930, the outside baptistry was rebuilt. Stories are told of ice having 
to be broken before a baptism could take place and church members 
today have memories of people gathering to watch baptismal services 
from the railway embankment. 
 

19 

 
 
19 Men gathered around the refurbished baptistry. 
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In 1946 the church celebrated its centenary with a week of meetings. It 
seems that over the five days of meetings, not one sermon was 
preached! 
 

 
 

These were still busy years, but concerns were raised about the 
number of absentees being carried on the church roll. Mr. Lewis 
pastored the church until 1949, when he was called to Llandeilo. 
 

20 
 

20 Hebron Ladies Guild in the 1940s. 
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In 1951, the pipe organ was finally installed, before the Rev. E. Dulais 
Jones was inducted to Hebron in December 1951.  
 

 
 
 
At the induction of Dulais Jones, he was instructed to use discretion in 
the use of English. English soon came more and more into the life of 
the church. By the late 1950s, the Sunday evening sermon was always 
in English, although every other part of the service remained Welsh. 
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Mr. Jones was an evangelical man after the Keswick mould. He was 
supported by a group of deacons who had matured during the years of 
Ceinfryn Thomas. 
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22 

 
21 Ladies in chapel 
22 Ladies on outing 
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1964-2001 
 
In 1964, Sulwyn Jones was inducted as minister. Of his conversion, 
Noel Gibbard writes: 
 

At Easter 1952 a notable campaign was held in Foelgastell, near Cross 
Hands, led by a group of young people; among them were Eifion Evans, 
Gareth Davies and Leslie Jones, three who entered the Christian 
ministry during H.H. Williams’ pastorate. To announce the coming 
meetings – and at the same time share the good news – they procured 
an amplifier, connected it to a car battery, attached it to a sledge and 
dragged it from place to place. The week’s meetings were particularly 
blessed; God’s presence was so real that people found it difficult to 
leave at the end of the service. Even after leaving the chapel, many 
could be seen sitting on the gravestones enquiring about the way of 
salvation. One of these was Sulwyn Jones of Penrhiw-goch, Maes-y-

 
23 Sisterhood 
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bont, subsequently minister of Hebron Evangelical Church, Dowlais. 
With night closing around them, many received the light of the gospel 
and, in the abode of the dead, experienced the power of the 
resurrection.24  

 

A number of young people were converted in the late forties and early 
fifties. Geraint Fielder writes of how: 
 

the fruitful evangelism of the times saw a long-term consequence in 
the number of men offering for the Christian ministry. There was now a 
band of theological students who were clearly evangelical and who 
showed a keenness for academic study. At Bangor were amongst 
others, Noel Gibbard, Cecil and Dennis Jenkins, Sulwyn Jones, Goronwy 
Owen, Edmund Owen, Gwylym Humphreys, Denis Young and Hywel R. 
Jones.25 

 

 
24 Noel Gibbard, The First Fifty Years. The history of the Evangelical Movement of 
Wales 1949-98 (Bryntirion Press, 2002) p38 
25 Geraint Fielder, ‘Excuse me, Mr Davies – Hallelujah!’ Evangelical Student Witness in 
Wales 1923-1983 (Evangelical Press of Wales Inter-Varsity Press, 1983) p184 
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By this time, although Hebron remained within the Baptist Union, it 
had become wary of it and more isolationist. By 1972, the church felt 
obliged to withdraw from both the English and Welsh Baptist Union, 
although remained Baptist in persuasion and practice. 
 
Of this time in Wales, Noel Gibbard writes: 
 

Many Baptists responded angrily to the declaration made by Principal 
Michael Taylor on the Person of Christ in his address at the 1971 
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annual meeting of the Baptist Union of Great Britain and Ireland. He 
stated that God was in Christ as he is in every other person, and that 
Christ’s uniqueness derives from the way he responded to God and the 
manner in which he operated in the world. In his opinion, Christ could 
not be both God and man, as was historically believed. 
 
Amongst those who resigned from the Baptist Union as a result of this 
address were Philip Hill (Llanwenarth), Sulwyn Jones (Dowlais), Owen 
Milton (Beaufort) and Graham Tolley (Abertyswg). The same step was 
taken by some churches – that is, by both minister and congregation – 
among them Townhill and Penlan (Swansea), Mount Pleasant 
(Maesycwmmer), Bethel (Cefn Hengoed), Alma Street (now Emmanuel 
Newport), Caersalem (St Mellons) and Alfred Place (Aberystwyth).26 

 
By 1973, The Evangelical Magazine of Wales reported: 
 

HEBRON Baptist Church, Dowlais, and its minister (Rev. Sulwyn Jones) 
have recently severed their connection with the Baptist Union of 
Wales. In a statement which they have issued they describe the 
reasons for their secession as both administrative and doctrinal. They 
write: 
 
We have been concerned for some time with the increasing trend 
within the Denomination towards centralization, with more and more 
interference in the life of the local Churches. 
 
However, we are far more concerned with the doctrinal and spiritual 
state of the Baptist Union. For years, the boast has been made that the 
Union is comprehensivist enough to include within itself all shades of 
theological persuasion, e.g. those who accept and those who deny the 
Deity of the Lord Jesus Christ; those who thank God for an infallible 
Guide-book and those who happily take the critical scissors to it; those 
who say that a Christian is one twice-born and those who say a 
Christian works his own passage to heaven. We accept that this com-
prehensivism is all right in a Noah's Ark, but unsuitable for the Church 
of the living God, the pillar and ground of the Truth! 
 
For us, the situation became intolerable, when at the Annual Assembly 

 
26 Ibid p95-96 
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of the Welsh Baptists at Aberystwyth in 1972, a practically unanimous 
decision was taken to participate fully with the Roman Catholic Church 
and others in the ‘Wales for Christ’ Campaign. Henceforth, therefore, 
the official trend of the Union will be clearly towards Ecumenism. The 
same attitude towards Truth will prevail in the Welsh as in the English 
Baptist Union. (We refer of course to the failure of the English B.U. to 
discipline the Unitarian Michael Taylor). 
 
We take this step after much deliberation, and in no spirit of bitterness 
towards our fellow Baptists. However, we feel that in all conscience we 
must separate from a body that no longer represents the Gospel of our 
Lord Jesus Christ-the Gospel of John Myles, Christmas Evans, and C. H. 
Spurgeon.27 

 

The church sought fellowship with other evangelical churches through 
involvement with the Evangelical Movement of Wales and later, 
through its membership of the Associating Evangelical Churches of 
Wales. 
 
By this time, the majority of those in attendance were English speaking 
and services were conducted in English. Numbers however had 
dwindled and by the mid-1980s there were approximately 40 members 
with worship taking place in the vestry. Demolition was discussed as 
well as turning the building into flats. Some, however, felt that God 
had plans. The issue was resolved when the Manpower Services 
Commission offered to completely refurbish the building, covering all 
the labour costs. Whilst the work took place, the church met at 
Gwernllwyn School in 1985. By the time the congregation returned in 
1986, the congregation had trebled. 
 

 
27 The Evangelical Magazine of Wales April – May 1973, page 4 
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28 

 
28 The Evangelical Magazine of Wales magazine front cover April – May 1991 
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Speaking at the 150th anniversary of the church in 1996, Mr. Jones 
described the clear distinctives that undergirded the vision for the 
church at the time. These included: 
 

• The primacy of the Word of God in preaching and in application 
to every area of life 

• The continued reformation of the church by the Word of God 

• Looking to the Holy Spirit to revive His people and His work 

• A concern for the lost and seeking every legitimate avenue to 
bring the gospel to men and women by the written Word, by 
holy and consistent lives and by word of mouth 

• Striving to nourish a warm fellowship of God’s people where 
those who enter in know something of God’s own love, concern 
and protection 

 

 
29 Men’s Sunday School class at Talgarth Church, 16th July 1987 
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Mr. Jones brought to Hebron an expository preaching ministry with a 
reformed system of theology where Scripture was applied to every 
area of life. It is a legacy that remains to the present day. 
 

30 
 
2001-2021 
 
On the 25th September 1999, Gareth Lloyd was inducted as assistant to 
Mr. Jones. He became minister of the church from July 2001 until May 
2004. After a four year period with no pastor, Roy Hamilton was 
inducted as minister on 27th September 2008.  
 

 
30 Christmas 2001 
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Before coming to Wales, Roy had been the pastor of Waterford Baptist 
Church, one of the oldest Baptist churches in Ireland, established in 
1650. He came to Hebron having pastored first in Wales at Calvary, 
Penybryn. 
 

31 
 

31 Picture taken at Roy’s last service on 7th August 2016 
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On the 5th November 2016 James Allan was ordained to the Christian 
ministry and inducted as pastor. The induction service was attended by 
around 250 people. James had preached at Hebron on occasion from 
2007 onwards and had a strong sense of God’s call to ministry. 
 
The church continues to try and reach the community, seeking to make 
the most of every opportunity. The Covid-19 pandemic resulted in 
Hebron services being live streamed on YouTube for the first time. This 
continues to be available for members not able to attend in person, as 
well as reaching unknown viewers all around the world. 
 
For more information or to stay in touch, please visit our web site, 
follow us on Facebook, or subscribe to our YouTube channel: 
 

www.hebrondowlais.org.uk 

facebook.com/HebronDowlais 

youtube.com/HebronEvangelicalChurchDowlais 
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32 Induction service of James Allan, 5th November 2016 





 

 

 
 


